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    Preface: Monuments at war


    Not all battlefields retain their disturbing aura of long-past bloodlust and grim exaltation, of courage and fortitude, unmanning dread and panic, anguish, pain, and violent death. Nor are their sites all marked by memorials that serve as the continuing focus of emotional commemoration. Indeed, not all battles themselves remain the pivot of heated debate, their disputed significance freighted with present-day discord. One that does is the battle of Blood River – called Bloedrivier in Afrikaans and Ncome in isiZulu – that was fought on 16 December 1838 on flat, bleakly open, treeless grassland in what is now the Province of KwaZulu-Natal in the Republic of South Africa. Blood River vindicated the superiority of concentrated musket-fire from within an all-round defensive enclosure of wagons (a laager) over greatly superior numbers of warriors armed primarily with spears. It was the climacteric battle in a bitter war of betrayal, massacre, fierce resistance, and retribution that began in late 1837 when groups of Dutch-speaking pioneers (or Voortrekkers), who were part of a mass migration from the British-ruled Cape Colony – a movement which has gone down in history as the Great Trek – invaded the Zulu kingdom ruled by King Dingane. The intention of these Boers was to settle there and to establish their own independent republic on its soil. They fought the Zulu armies in alliance with English-speaking hunter-traders from the little enclave of Port Natal, and the war ended only in early 1840 once the Boers were able to take advantage of a civil war that broke out in the dislocated and weakened Zulu kingdom and drove Dingane from his throne.


    Successive generations of Afrikaners continued to celebrate their forebears’ victory over the amaZulu at the battle of Blood River as the triumph of Christianity over barbarism, and embraced it as an unmistakable sign of the favour in which God held their nation. The battle thus affirmed the God-given right of Afrikaners to rule over the Africans they had defeated, and out of this stirring foundation myth arose the ideology of apartheid. Afrikaners long held that this crucial event required commemoration. With the Union of South Africa in 1910 that brought the British colonies and Boer republics of the subcontinent together in one country, 16 December was proclaimed a public holiday. It remained one until the eventual fall of apartheid 84 years later, and during these years it was annually celebrated with increasing fervour. The battlefield itself was elevated to a sacred site that became a place of pilgrimage that celebrated the Afrikaner nation and reaffirmed its political and cultural ascendancy.
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    The War in Zululand, 1837–1840


    With increasing confidence in their dominance, Afrikaners required monuments to celebrate their history and its heroes. The most imposing of these is the enormous, monolithic Voortrekker Monument on its hill outside Pretoria, designed by Gerard Moerdyk and inaugurated on 16 December 1949. The floor of its Hall of Heroes has a central opening that reveals the cenotaph commemorating the Voortrekkers who died in violently opening up the South African hinterland to white domination, while the vast chamber’s surrounding walls are adorned by a marble frieze with 27 panels that illustrate heroic scenes from the Great Trek.1


    Two years earlier, in 1947, a considerably smaller monument had been inaugurated on the Blood River battlefield. Designed by Coert Steynberg, it took the form of a massive but sombre ox-wagon sculpted out of granite and embedded into flights of steps. Over the doorway on the side dedicated to the victory of 1838 is a lunette filled by a crowded sculpture depicting three mounted Boers overwhelming four fleeing amaZulu and forcing them to the ground. In 1971 the granite wagon was moved to its present site to make way for a new monument designed by Kobus Esterhuizen to be erected closer to the river where the battle was fought. This ambitious project recreated the laager the Boers defended against the attacking amaZulu with a formation of 64 bronzed, cast-iron, life-sized, and authentically recreated ox-wagons, each weighing eight tons. The bronze wagons encircle the original stone cairn marking the site of the battle, but this metal laager is not really an accurate reconstruction of the real one because in its positioning it unaccountably ignores the logic of the topography. Even so, it makes an astonishing statement on the empty plain and incontrovertibly puts the seal of Afrikaner ownership on the battlefield. Significantly, the metal laager was paid for in part by contributions raised from among ordinary Afrikaners, and spoke to their ongoing obsession with the symbolism of the site.2


    Yet, the battlefield was also of significance to the amaZulu whose ancestors had fought and died there. This ostentatious new memorial to the Boer victory was not only taken as an affront to smouldering Zulu nationalism, but was also spurned as yet another flaunted symbol of Afrikaner domination and apartheid policy. When the new democratic government came to power in 1994, it was very aware of the significance of Blood River for the former regime, and the extent to which it was repudiated by Africans. In 1995 it renamed the public holiday on 16 December the Day of Reconciliation, and set about making the contentious battlefield and its existing monuments more acceptable to the values of the post-colonial, democratic, all-inclusive and multi-cultural society it was then (if now no longer) sincerely promoting.


    And certainly, there was no disguising that the Blood River monuments echoed the situation in 1994 where 97 per cent of all existing monuments in South Africa reflected the values and interests of the colonial and apartheid eras, and were viewed by blacks as symbols of their past alienation and disempowerment. For the new government, the challenge lay in somehow ensuring that these monuments reflected the diverse history and values of the new post-apartheid society without, at the same time, undermining its efforts to promote reconciliation and nation-building by physically removing them. As a first step in this regard, and to allay the fears of formerly dominant groups that their culture would be assailed, the government saw to it that the country’s new constitution of 1996 assured persons of all cultural groups that they would not be denied their right to enjoy their own culture.3


    Yet, in practice, how were contentious monuments, offensive to large segments of the population, to be both retained and, as it were, rendered neutral? It was precisely because of the heavy ideological freight they carried that the government homed in on the monuments on the Blood River site to attempt a solution that could then be adopted elsewhere.


    Monuments fell under the new Department of Arts, Culture, Science and Technology, and in 1998 it appointed the Battle of Blood River Reinterpretation Committee. It comprised a panel of so-called ‘diverse’ academic historians consisting of one ‘Afrikaner’ historian, two ‘English’ historians (the author was one of them), and three ‘Zulu’ ones. The committee presented its final report on 31 October 1998 at a seminar at the University of Zululand. In retrospect, the committee’s attempt to formulate an interpretation of the battle that satisfied all the ‘stakeholders’ (to use the parlance of the time) was not entirely successful, and it ended up largely reflecting the views of those most concerned to assert Zulu nationalist identity. More practically useful than this weighted ‘correction’ of past interpretations of the battle was the committee’s recommendation that the government, in order to ‘create a spirit of reconciliation’, should erect ‘a monument that would make noble the loss of Zulu life and extol Zulu bravery as much as the present monuments at the site do for the Voortrekkers.’4


    This recommendation was carried through with the construction of a new monument across the Ncome (Blood River) from the bronzed Boer laager and opposite to it, deliberately placed to confront it as the Zulu army had on the day of battle. Maintaining the military theme, the Ncome monument is designed to reflect the classic Zulu battle formation with the central round building representing the ‘chest’ of the attacking bull, and the curving g extension either side of it the encircling ‘horns’. The outer walls of the pinkish façade are adorned by replicas of ox-hide shields painted in different patterns and colours to represent the Zulu ‘regiments’ that fought in the battle. As intended, the elegant building radiates energy and is dedicated to the brave amaZulu who fell in the battle defending their independence. Thousands (including the author) were present on 16 December 1998 when King Goodwill Zwelithini unveiled the monument. Representatives from all political parties and many cultural organisations were among the guests. Numerous amaZulu were in traditional dress and carried traditional weapons.5


    The Boer laager and the Zulu monument confronting it across the river are assumed to complement each other by those who believe in the value of post-colonial monuments being positioned in the proximity of colonial ones in order that they might interact and thus define and legitimise each other. Such placement, it is suggested, allows us to acknowledge differing perspectives. And by ending one-sided representation, it helps us reconcile conflicting historical portrayals and so fosters reconciliation. That indeed was the intention at Blood River/Ncome, and the opening in 2014 of a long-deferred pedestrian bridge over the river connecting the two sites was intended (apart from any practical considerations with tourists in mind) to reconfirm symbolically the reconciliation of ancient enemies.


    The problem, though, is that memorialisation cannot help but always be highly charged both politically and culturally, and simply cannot avoid leading to a contestation of the past. And a battlefield is probably the most compromised place of all to cultivate reconciliation. Monuments permanently fix the past in physical form, so when you have one that is conceived of as an attacking force and the other as a defensive formation, they belie the noble rhetoric of mutual understanding and forgiveness. The Ncome monument unashamedly celebrates traditional Zulu warrior identity and is just as grounded in ethnic nationalism as are the Afrikaner Blood River monuments opposite. The annual celebrations of the battle are still conducted separately on either side of the river by different racial groups who persist in regarding each other as the adversary, revealing ingrained antagonisms that the connecting footbridge cannot eradicate. And, as the reconciliatory spirit – so compelling when the Ncome monument was inaugurated in 1998 – continues to fade in an increasingly polarised South Africa, the bronze laager symbolically keeps on defending while the Ncome monument opposite is always attacking.


    In writing this book, I am deeply aware of the historic antagonisms that the war of 1837–1840 between the Trekkers and amaZulu set in motion. I can see that, despite efforts to encourage mutual respect and reconciliation, animosities between the descendants of the original combatants still simmer on and are expressed through the battle monuments they have raised. Nor is that surprising, because the war was a critical one in South Africa’s blood-stained history of colonial conquest and African resistance, one that spawned myths that fed the conflicting ideologies that shaped the future course of the country. A war laden with as much historical baggage as this one is, presents a considerable challenge for any historian who attempts to present an acceptably balanced account of it. For my part, I did not approach the task as an advocate for either side. My aim was to describe the wider historical context of the war, to analyse the contrasting military cultures of the antagonists, to explain why the conflict broke out, to track the course of the campaign, and to elucidate the reasons for victory and defeat. In doing so, it was essential to enlarge on the part the amaZulu played in the war. All too often, the war has been approached from the perspective of the ultimately triumphant Boers, with too little effort made to explore the mainsprings of Zulu policy and action. I have attempted as best I can to remedy this imbalance through consulting recorded Zulu oral testimony alongside contemporary written accounts. By according the two sides as even a weighting as I can, I hope that even if the result does not secure a measure of ever-elusive reconciliation among readers, it will at least promote a better level of understanding.
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    Breaking down the maize stalks 


    The Elizabeth and Susan, a 30-ton timber-built schooner with one mast fore and another aft, tacked on 4 May 1828 into the wide, exposed sweep of Algoa Bay on the southern coast of Africa. Four days before, the little vessel had set sail from Port Natal, a tiny, scruffy settlement of British traders and hunters established in May 1824 on the shore of the Zulu kingdom, 383 nautical miles away to the north-east. The schooner’s commander was James King, a discharged midshipman of the Royal Navy who liked to pose as an ex-lieutenant.1 He was accompanied by several other hunter-traders (some bare-footed and partially dressed in animal skins) along with a consignment of hippopotamus ivory to sell. On board there were also several Zulu dignitaries, envoys despatched by Shaka kaSenzangakhona, the Zulu king. It was primarily on their account that the Elizabeth and Susan was making the voyage, for King Shaka desired to establish friendly relations with the British authorities governing the Cape Colony.2


    Shaka had entrusted his embassy with fifty tusks of elephant ivory to cover expenses and to be disbursed as gifts. The senior ambassador was Sothobe kaMpangalala, one of the king’s most distinguished and trusted councillors, an extremely arrogant, deep-chested giant of a man, celebrated for regularly eating a whole goat by himself.3 As a sign of his especial favour, Shaka had permitted Sothobe to bring along two of his many wives. Sothobe was subsequently celebrated in his izibongo (the praises declaimed during a person’s lifetime and after his death in celebration of his deeds) for his heroism in sailing out to sea in a ship:


    Splasher of water with an oxtail,


    Great ship of the ocean,


    The uncrossable sea,


    Which is crossed only by swallows and white people …4


    The amaZulu on board the Elizabeth and Susan had been anticipating unimaginable wonders in the white men’s country, but they were swiftly disabused. The only contrivance that seems to have made a lasting impression was a pump that marvellously drew water ‘out of a hole’.5 Port Elizabeth, the Zulu embassy’s destination, was still in an embryonic state. It had been founded in 1820 on the western shore of Algoa Bay by the acting governor of Cape Colony, Sir Rufane Donkin, who named it to commemorate his deeply mourned wife who had died in India. Until the middle of the 19th century the port had no proper jetties, no lighthouse or breakwater. From ships anchored in the bay, passengers and cargo were brought through the angry surf on lighters, and were then transferred to the shoulders of African porters who carried them to shore. Once deposited on dry land, the Zulu ambassadors would have found Port Elizabeth (in the words of English contemporaries) an ‘ugly, dirty, ill-scented, ill-built hamlet, resembling some of the worst fishing villages on the English coast’, a disreputable place with a well-earned reputation for disorderly ‘drunkenness and immorality’.6


    Yet, for all its undeniable drawbacks, Port Elizabeth was vital for the economic development of the eastern districts of the Cape Colony. In 1652 the Dutch East India Company, or Vereenigde Oost-Indische Compagnie (VOC), had established a refreshment station at the Cape of Good Hope at the southern tip of Africa, strategically situated on the sea route to its commercial empire in the East Indies.7 It was not long before De Kaap (as the Dutch called their fortified base) developed into a colony of settlement producing beef, wheat, wine, and other foodstuffs for the passing ships. Its population steadily grew with the arrival of Dutch, French, and German settlers from Europe (all of whom took on Dutch identity) and slaves from East Africa, Madagascar, and the East Indies. Inevitably, the expansion of De Kaap was at the expense of the indigenous peoples of the Cape, the Khoikhoin and San, who already occupied the grazing lands and hunting grounds of a vast area stretching north to the Orange River 600 miles away, and 500 miles east along the coast to the Keiskamma River. In a series of skirmishes and more protracted wars over the next hundred years, the colonists pushed the boundaries of De Kaap ever further east and north. The dispossessed Khoikhoin and San were either driven away northwards over the Orange River into the interior of the sub-continent, or were subjugated as labourers or menials on the settlers’ farms and in their villages.


    Towards the end of the 18th century, the advancing Dutch settlers encountered another people just west of Algoa Bay. These were the amaXhosa, Nguni-speaking pastoralists closely related linguistically and culturally to other African peoples settled for 800 miles up the eastern coastal lands of southern Africa, notably (from south to north) the abaThembu, amaMpondomise, amaMpondo, amaZulu and amaSwazi. Tentative contact between the Dutch and the amaXhosa soon turned violent as both sides attempted to secure control of desirable grazing and agricultural land. During the course of nine Cape Frontier Wars of ever-increasing ferocity that began in 1779 and would only end in 1878 with the complete conquest of the amaXhosa, the colonists steadily drove them eastwards as they appropriated their territory.


    In 1780 the Dutch East India Company fixed the eastern boundary of Kaapkolonie (as the Dutch now referred to their South African colonial possession) east of Algoa Bay, along the Great Fish and Baviaans Rivers. Soon thereafter the Dutch were caught up in the world-wide French Revolutionary and Napoleonic Wars which broke out in 1792 and continued until 1815. Early in the conflict, the British grasped the strategic significance of the Cape as a naval station on their own route to their empire in India, and seized it from the Dutch in 1795. As a condition of the Treaty of Amiens (a temporary truce that Britain signed with France in 1802) the Cape was restored to Dutch rule. But after the war resumed the following year, Britain once again conquered the Cape from the Dutch in 1806, and British possession of Cape Colony (as they called it) was confirmed by the Final Act of the Congress of Vienna, signed on 9 June 1815 between all the great powers.


    With British rule came the assertion of English cultural supremacy at the Cape, whether it be its language, emblems, dress, architecture, food or social conventions.8 The Governor, Lord Charles Somerset, was more than happy to do his best to ‘civilise’ the colony, but found the Dutch-speaking colonists determined to preserve their own language and cultural distinctiveness, especially when it came to their strict Calvinist religion. The further from the urban centres of the Western Cape, the less the Boers (literally, ‘farmers’ or boere) of the countryside were ready to accept or adopt the new British ways. For the British, who regarded the Cape as primarily a strategic naval possession, the distant but expanding, porous and unstable eastern and northern frontiers of white settlement were an annoying problem, especially since the Boers living there were acutely resentful of the new British order. So, although obliged to protect the fractious frontier farmers, the British government remained unwilling to commit sufficient troops to exercise absolute military control over the frontier zone. That meant that the amaXhosa in the east and the few still independent Khoisan in the north were not deterred from continuing to resist further settler encroachment and from trying to win back what they had lost.9


    Following the Fourth and Fifth Cape Frontier Wars, in 1829 the British set the Colony’s eastern frontier along the Keiskamma, Tyhume, and Klipplaat Rivers, thereby annexing 3 000 square miles of Xhosa territory. Meanwhile, the British government had approved an assisted emigration scheme to stabilise the frontier by creating a rural buffer of farmers against Xhosa incursions. Since the new settlers were of British extraction, the government hoped that their presence would dilute the regional influence of the chronically disaffected frontier Boers. Between December 1819 and March 1820, 21 crowded chartered emigrant ships left England and Ireland for the Cape carrying about 1 000 men and 3 000 women and children. The settlers took up their farms in what was named the Albany District between the Bushmans and Great Fish Rivers. Grahamstown, Albany’s administrative and military centre, rapidly developed into a brisk commercial hub peopled with a politically aware mercantile community that erected churches and increasingly elegant houses. The Albany settlers’ economic future depended on having a suitable port for trade and export, and Port Elizabeth addressed that need.


    Many of the Albany settlers were officially encouraged to trade deep into the interior beyond the boundaries of the Colony, bartering goods such as cloth, iron utensils, beads, and buttons with Africans for valuable commodities like cattle hides, ivory, and gum.10 Earlier, Boer settlers in the Eastern Cape had sought land for their pastoralist, essentially subsistence economy, that differed little from that of the amaXhosa. Now, the Grahamstown merchants were beginning to flourish on the so-called ‘Inland Kaffir Trade’ up the east coast of southern Africa and north across the Orange River onto the highveld, the great inland plateau. To sustain this trade, they set about instituting the essential elements of a capitalist economy: credit and banking facilities and the formation of joint-stock trading companies. Some of these commercial interests began to take cognizance of the economic possibilities of a particular region which, in the early 1820s, had become the Zulu kingdom.


    Until the late 18th century, there were no large chiefdoms in the territory of the future Zulu kingdom. Then a process of political consolidation and expansion began which, during the first decades of the 19th century, detonated turbulent migrations of peoples that violently ripped apart most of the pre-colonial societies of southern Africa north of the boundaries of Cape Colony. The causes of these upheavals remain a matter of considerable academic debate. Explanations have long concentrated on ecological and demographic pressures, and more recently on growing African competition to control trade routes in ivory and cattle (and possibly slaves) with Europeans operating primarily from Delagoa Bay on the east coast, and north across the Orange River from Cape Colony. What is certain is that widespread warfare, devastation and the formation by conquest or incorporation of newly militarised and centralised states accompanied these developments. Historians have applied the term Mfecane to this complex and revolutionary period in the eastern coastal lands. This is an isiXhosa word, derived from the root -feca, meaning ‘to crack, bruise, or break down the maize stalks’, and was employed contemporaneously to describe the general turmoil. Subsequently, historians began to use the Sesotho term Difaqane with reference to the wars on the highveld of the interior in the same period. It means ‘those who cut their enemies in pieces’, and in the early 19th century seems already to have gained the broader meaning of ‘wars waged by wandering hordes’.11


    The increasing turmoil compelled the little chiefdoms of the territory that would become the Zulu kingdom to strengthen themselves and undertake social and political adjustments in order to compete and survive.12 Most notably, these involved the transformation of amabutho, age-set units of youths originally banded together into circumcision sets, into military ‘regiments’ organised under the close control of their amakhosi, or chiefs, to act as their instruments of internal control and as armies against external enemies.


    During the first decade of the 19th century, the two most aggressively expanding chiefdoms between Delagoa Bay and the Thukela River to its south (the site of the future Zulu kingdom) were the abakwaNdwandwe and the abakwaMthethwa. In about 1817 the abakwaNdwandwe crushed their rivals, and only the small Zulu chiefdom in the valley of the White Mfolozi River, ruled by Shaka kaSenzangakhona, a former Mthethwa tributary, remained in the field to oppose them. Despite heavy losses, the amaZulu held fast because their inkosi (chief, king) was a military commander of extraordinary abilities. He had gained his expertise in the service of the abakwaMthethwa, and set about enhancing the military capability of his small army. He did so through rigorous training, refining, and improving upon the military techniques already being practised in the region, and by inculcating a culture of remorseless combat.


    Over the course of a series of successful campaigns, Shaka combined his growing military weight with the exercise of ruthless but extremely skilful diplomacy to extend his burgeoning kingdom. By the mid-1820s he ruled over the entire region between the Phongolo River to the north, the foothills of the Drakensberg to the west, the Indian Ocean shore to the east, and the Mzimkhulu River to the south. When defeated, more powerful rivals like the abakwaNdwandwe were faced with the unpalatable options of flight or submission; while many smaller chiefdoms prudently gave in without a fight. The amabutho of all these incorporated chiefdoms no longer served their old amakhosi, but transferred their full loyalty to their new ruler, Shaka, whose army they increasingly swelled. Until the fall of the Zulu kingdom in the Anglo-Zulu War of 1879, these amabutho under their king’s sole command constituted the central prop of royal power.
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    Always talking of war and battles 


    All the men in the Zulu kingdom – with the exception of a few individuals in specialist callings such as diviner (isangoma) or blacksmith – shared the common experience of being enrolled in an ibutho.1 Boys between the ages of five and 12 were put to work by their elders, herding, hoeing, harvesting, threshing, keeping watch for intruders or dangerous animals. Some among them, the tougher and more mettlesome ones, would be sent off to serve as izindibi, baggage-carriers, for warriors quartered in an ikhanda.2 These amakhanda, great circular assemblages of domed grass huts (izindlu) constructed around a central cattle enclosure and parade ground, ranged in size from several hundred izindlu to a thousand or more, and were situated at strategic points across Zululand where they functioned as hubs of royal authority.


    At the age of 14 or a year or two younger, adolescents of the same age-grade from all around the kingdom mustered at the ikhanda nearest to them. There they were said to ukukleza, to drink milk directly from the udder, while they served as cadets for several years herding cattle, working the fields and practicing military skills. From the outset they were in strenuous competition with one another, and would select forceful, courageous individuals from among their own ranks as the junior officers of the future to command the amaviyo, or companies, that made up an ibutho. An iviyo was formed from recruits who came from the same district and who already knew each other, thus bonding naturally as a unit.3 At about 17 or 18, once they had passed puberty, cadets of the same age-grade would be brought before the king for him to ukubuthwa them, form them into a new ibutho with their own ikhanda. Older and younger brothers would often be buthwa’d together in the same ibutho, although this meant the elder’s enrolment would be delayed.4


    [image: ]


    Distant view of emGungundlovu from the south in Allen Gardiner, Narrative of a Journey to the Zooloo Country in South Africa Undertaken in 1835 (London: William Crofts, 1836). (Campbell Collections, Durban, with permission)


    An induna (officer) was appointed to command between one and three amaviyo, and each had a subordinate officer. The size of an iviyo or of a whole ibutho was never a constant, and depended on factors such as the degree of favour in which it was held by the king. Thus, amaviyo could be anything from 40 to 100 strong; while the strength of an ibutho could vary from a few hundred men to several thousand. New amabutho, or those that had become under-strength on account of casualties or natural attrition though age, were often incorporated into larger, more favoured ones.


    The amabutho served for a few months a year in their amakhanda, when they looked after the royal cattle, kept the amakhanda in repair, collected tribute from outlying districts and acted as the king’s police against malefactors. They all mustered at the king’s ‘great place’ (the ikhanda where he principally resided) to celebrate the great national festivals, and also in time of war preparatory to going on campaign as the king’s army, or impi. They had no special training in military exercises, and had learned to throw their spears while cadets by hunting buck. As youngsters they had become accustomed to combatting each other in rough-and-tumble scrimmages, and contesting as determined rivals in the stick-fighting that required considerable skill, sharp reflexes and a willingness to endure bruises, bloody scalps and broken bones. As cadets and members of an ibutho they were always being urged on by their izinduna not to be cowards and to stand up for themselves. They became inured to the frequent beating they received from their elders and officers for every little transgression, and when quartered in an ikhanda they scrapped over their rations, snatching food from each other and coming to blows. There was, as it was said, ‘no restraining’ of the warriors who, not content with treating each other aggressively, were constantly asserting their own esprit de corps by picking quarrels with members of younger amabutho who, in turn, bragged that they possessed as much prowess as their elders – and set out to prove it. Nor must it be forgotten that the unmarried, younger warriors were males in search of a mate, and when they danced for the girls who brought them their food, they shoved and pushed to be in the front rank where they could cut an eye-catching dash in all their finery of feathers and animal skins and display their vigorous young manhood before their sweethearts.5


    Zulu girls were also formed into amabutho, primarily for the purpose of regulating marriage. At intervals, the king gave members of a female ibutho of child-bearing age leave to marry the middle-aged men of a designated male ibutho who then put on the distinctive isicoco, or headring, a circlet of animal tendons or fibres that was sewn into the hair, coated with beeswax or gum, and then greased or polished. Wearing an isicoco indicated that a man had attained full adulthood and so had the right to marry, set up his own family homestead as an umnumzane, or head of a household, and procreate. By withholding permission for a male ibutho to marry, the king was prolonging the period during which its members continued to be regarded as youths in Zulu society, and therefore remained more thoroughly under the control of their elders.


    When a Zulu king decided to go to war, messengers would shout the mobilisation order from hill to hill and word would dutifully pass from umuzi to umuzi, each the circular family homestead of huts that scattered the countryside. Over the next few days, the amabutho would assemble at their regional amakhanda. Before leaving his own home, a warrior would be presented with a tiny skin bag two inches square made of otter, weasel, leopard, bushbaby or baboon skin filled with intelezi (ritual medicines to counteract evil influence or sorcery) along with other charms (amakhubalo) to be worn on a string around the neck. Fully armed, he would then be served a ritual meal that a dog had licked to give him stamina in running should he be defeated and forced to flee for his life. After that, he would go into the isibaya (the enclosure for livestock in an umuzi) where the women supplicated the amadlozi (ancestral spirits) on his behalf.6
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    A typical Zulu umuzi constructed with the izindlu surrounding the isibaya, anonymous engraving. (Campbell Collections, Durban, with permission)


    The members of the amabutho would arrive at the king’s great place in groups, singing the amahubo, or solemn anthems of the nation, salute him and ukugiya, that is, perform the leaping, aggressive war-dance. ‘They would cry, “Is it war, Nkosi?” The king replies: “I have said! I have said! I have said!”’ Once the king had ascertained from his izinduna that the whole impi had assembled, he would give the order for the war preparation rituals to commence.7


    Knowledge of the form the rituals took and the sequence in which they were performed is to be gleaned mainly from Zulu oral testimony recorded many decades later. Faulty or failing memory thus plays its part; while the experiences of witnesses naturally differed depending on when and where they participated in the ceremonies. Our most detailed information concerns the period in the late 1870s, at the time of the Anglo-Zulu War. However, the description below is based primarily on the reminiscences of elderly individuals who, in their young manhood, took part in the Zulu campaign against the amaNdebele in 1837 during the reign of Shaka’s successor King Dingane. They described the rituals that took place at precisely the moment when the Voortrekkers were poised to invade the Zulu kingdom, and we can be reasonably confident that was how they were performed during the ensuing war.


    With a small force the various rituals might take only a day to complete, but with a large impi several days were required.8 Before dawn, the assembled amabutho went down to the river to ukuphalaza, or vomit the imithi (occult medicines) administered to them by the izinyanga, or traditional healers. The purpose of this ritual was to cleanse the warriors of umnyama, evil occult influences and the forces of darkness such as might be induced by sorcery, as well as to cause a mystical mist to envelope their enemies so that they would be taken by surprise.9 The warriors vomited into the open centre of the inkatha. This was a great, twisted grass coil full of imithi and other ritual objects symbolising the unity of the nation, and was the visible expression of the hope that none would ever break away from the kingdom.10 After the ukuphalaza ceremony was over, Dingane gave the order for the amabutho to go to his father Senzangakhona’s grave on the hill above the kwaNobamba ikhanda (the site of his original umuzi) to ukukhetha, or perform a rhythmical, showy dance in praise of the royal ancestors. When there, they symbolically whetted the blades of their spears on Senzangakhona’s old sharpening stone, the ceremony rousing ‘the warlike spirit to an extraordinary degree’.11
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    Lunguza kaMpukane, was born in 1820 and was a member of the uKhokhothi ibutho formed in 1837–1838. He was one of James Stuart’s most reliable informants when the magistrate was recording Zulu oral testimony concerning their history and customs. Photographed in 1909. (Campbell Collections, Durban, with permission)


    Next, the warriors had to be ritually strengthened against the dangers of combat and to be inspired with courage and a fighting spirit. In a hazardous exercise some sections of the older amabutho, several hundred men strong, would catch a number of black or reddish bulls (never, for occult reasons, particoloured) with their bare hands and kill them by breaking their necks. With a large impi the number of bulls despatched in this way could range between five and 10. Their carcases were carried into the great cattle enclosure at emGungundlovu, Dingane’s principal ikhanda, where the king had been watching hidden behind his attendants. The izinyanga cut the dead bulls into myriad thin strips, roasted them over wood fires and smeared them with pungent and bitter imithi until they were quite black, and then laid them out in heaps on skins. Meanwhile, the amabutho had returned from the river after the ukuphalaza ceremony and were standing in a great umkhumbi, four or five ranks deep. (An umkhumbi was an open crescent of warriors who only formed a complete circle just before going off to engage the enemy.)12 The izinyanga then threw the doctored strips to the waiting amabutho who were holding their shields and spears in their left hands. They caught the meat in their right ones, chewed it slightly, swallowed the doctored juice and passed it on by throwing it to others who were waiting to catch it in the air above their heads.13


    After this ritual, the whole impi was treated with intelezi, the occult charms intended to counteract umnyama and render it innocuous. The izinyanga administered the intelezi by sprinkling the warriors using a grass broom (old women who were no longer menstruating might assist in this – no other women were permitted to be present during the rituals),14 or by burning it so that the smoke enveloped the umkhumbi. The warriors were thereby rendered ‘slippery’ so that enemy spears would not stab them and their bullets would miss.15 It was also usual to ukuncinda at this stage. Warriors dipped their hands into potsherds of intelezi dissolved in boiling water, then sucked their fingertips and squirted the liquid in the direction of the enemy, shouting: ‘Fall, So and so! Fall, So and so!’16 They might also splash the protective intelezi-infused water over their bodies and not wash again until hostilities were over.17


    On account of these accumulated rituals, the amabutho were in a supernaturally active state and were required to ukuzila, to observe ritual abstinence. The izinyanga cautioned them against having sexual intercourse since this would subvert the powers of the intelezi that encompassed them. If the impi subsequently fared badly, this was attributed to some men having disobeying the injunction. The defaulters would, moreover, lay themselves open to being wounded or killed.18


    The next element of war preparations was that of ritual challenges lasting a full day. The competitive amabutho were called before the king who declared: ‘Let the impi discuss war: let the men challenge one another’ (ukuqomana).19 Then ‘a bad commotion arose’ and mediation would be required as the men defied each other, giya’d and boasted of the valiant deeds they would perform on campaign and asserted they would surpass their rivals. When they later returned from war their boasts would be remembered and they would be held to account, with some braggarts humiliated and others rewarded for their prowess.20


    After all these taxing ceremonies, the amabutho were sent back to their amakhanda for a few days to recuperate, after which they were called up again to perform the ceremony of sending off the impi. All the amabutho led by their izinduna formed up into a great umkhumbi facing the king who stood alone, arrayed in all his finery and carrying his shield and spears. He held a stick of war with which he pointed in the direction of the enemy as he strutted back and forth while the assembly yelled out, ‘You will hear about us, as you will see what we do.’ Then, one by one, each ibutho moved off in the designated order of march, accompanied in turn by the king as far as the gate to the enclosure. 21


    Even then, the rituals were not over. The army went to sleep at emaHlabaneni, the ikhanda presided over by Mnkabayi kaJama, the inDlovukazi, ‘Great She-Elephant’, Dingane’s aunt. The next day it was drawn up in an umkhumbi on a hillock close to the gate to emaHlabaneni and Mnkabayi took them through a final round of ukuthetha ceremonies when the generals and the other great izinduna and men of high birth declaimed the praises of the royal ancestors.22
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    Inkosi Ngoza kaLudaba photographed in c.1860 with young, unmarried amabutho in full festival attire. (Campbell Collections, Durban, with permission)


    On campaign during the reigns of Shaka and Dingane, amabutho wore their full panoply of precious furs and feathers, a practice that fell increasingly away in subsequent times. All members of an ibutho wore a cowhide penis sheath for modesty (otherwise there was no shame in nudity among men) beneath a thick bunch of animal skins twisted to resemble tails. These tails might be continued all around the waist like a kilt, or be replaced over the buttocks by an oblong cowskin flap, often supplemented by further tails. In 1905 the ancient Ngidi kaMcikaziswa, who had been born in about 1818, described his attire during the Zulu campaign of 1837 against the amaNdebele. Besides the basic loin covering of tails, around his neck, sewn onto a thong, he wore long cow-tails falling over his chest and back. As a member of the iHlaba ibutho, on his head he carried a very large crest of black and dun-coloured vulture feathers and the red feathers of the crested crane. These feathers were fixed into a headband of blue monkey and otter skin with flaps on either side of the face and longer ones at the back of the head reaching some way down the back. ‘So covered up would a person become with this head dress,’ remembered Ngidi, ‘that you would not be able to recognise him for some time’.23
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    Inkosi Ngoza kaLudaba photographed in c.1860 with senior, married amabutho in war dress. (Campbell Collections, Durban, with permission)


    On the army’s march, the izindibi ported the warriors’ sleeping mats, neck-rests, calabashes, cooking pots, and skin cloaks made from the hides of young steers scraped until they were soft. In Dingane’s day, girls did not go out with the army carrying supplies, as they had in Shaka’s time. Maize and sorghum were carried by the whole army, and firewood too if fuel was scarce in the area of operations. A herd of inferior cattle with missing teats or horns that grew crooked was driven along with the impi for meat if the need arose, but it was preferable to consume captured enemy cattle and drive the herd home uneaten.24 If meat ran out, the warriors went out hunting for eland, buffalo, and buck, and it was the practice to raid the gardens of any imizi they passed without offering compensation, even if still in Zulu territory.25 When the impi came to a halt to rest, the men would stack their shields and share out their snuff, some puffing away at cannabis in their smoking horns while declaiming the praises of the king.26 Decoy fires might be made (or aloes set alight) to deceive enemy spies into believing the impi was encamped where it was not.27


    Many warriors were unable to keep up on a long march. The sinews in their legs gave way and their bare feet cracked open and became a mass of cuts. Those who put on sandals were beaten and told to go home in disgrace. Indeed, no sympathy was accorded to the weak, and the order would be given: ‘Let the maggots [because they moved with difficulty] go home’. Those who turned back were called young locusts not yet able to fly, meaning people who could not walk far.28


    An impi was guided by spies who had gone deliberately to live among the people to be attacked so as to learn all about them.29 As the army advanced through enemy territory, scouts were sent forward in groups of 10, 15, or 50 men to keep a lookout for the enemy. They kept in constant touch with the impi, sending messengers back regularly to report, and their runners sounded the alarm when the enemy was close.30 Ideally, the enemy remained in ignorance of the impi so that it could advance secretly by night and surprise the foe at dawn.31 If the opportunity arose, the amaZulu were content to lay an ambush for the enemy, allowing their unsuspecting adversaries to pass between two waiting bodies of men and then suddenly surrounding them, taking them at a disadvantage. But, when there was a reasonable chance of success, the Zulu preference was for a pitched battle in the open, in full daylight.32


    On the march no cattle were sacrificed to the royal ancestors,33 but when the impi came in sight of the enemy, a calf being driven along with the accompanying herd was deliberately separated from its mother so that they both began to bellow and thus ukuthetha the amadlozi, firing up the warriors who began to shout: ‘We will be wide awake when we die; we will be wide awake when we kill them.’ The imbongi (praise-singer) with army then started singing out the praises of Senzangakhona and shouting out phrases such as ‘Crush! Grind to powder! the dust straight into the air [as it arises when forces clash].34 The izinyanga accompanying the army (a whole ‘pathful’ of them) carried intelezi with them in baskets, and sprinkled it on the amabutho drawn up in a circular umkhumbi just before combat was joined.35


    A Zulu impi was made up of a combination of married and unmarried amabutho. The former were the dependable, biddable veterans; while the latter could be expected to exhibit dash, foolhardiness, and a relative lack of discipline.36 In battle the tactical intention of these amabutho was to outflank and enclose the enemy in a flexible manoeuvre, evidently developed from the hunt, which could be readily adapted to a pitched battle in the open field or to a surprise attack. This was the famous bull’s chest and horns formation. It was the married veterans, who could be depended upon not to lose their nerve and run away, who made up the chest (isifuba) and engaged first with the enemy, and it was the younger, less reliable warriors who manoeuvred in the two encircling horns (izimpondo) and who came to blows later in the battle.37 The loins (umuva), a reserve usually made up of a very young ibutho, was sent in for support if necessary, in pursuit of the fleeing enemy, or to round up captured cattle.


    The amaZulu did not attack in a solid body, shoulder-to-shoulder, but advanced in open skirmishing order. They only concentrated when upon the enemy, casting a shower of long-shafted throwing-spears (izijula) – which could find their target up to 30 yards away – to distract the foe as they rushed in behind their great, cow-hide war-shields (izihlangu) to engage in hand-to-hand fighting with their short-hafted, long-bladed stabbing-spears (amaklwa) or with their amawisa, skull-crushing knobbed wooden sticks. After a few vicious minutes of frenzied stabbing and clubbing they would fall back and regroup before re-engaging as many times as was necessary before the enemy broke. No quarter was given to the defeated foe, and the pursuit and routing-out of fugitives (often including non-combatants who had been bystanders during the battle) was prolonged and merciless. Warriors might seize surviving women and children to keep as concubines and menials, but all the highly-prized cattle were retained for the king to distribute as he thought fit. Not so the less regarded goats and sheep, said contemptuously to be like ‘mouldy or rotten grain’.38


    Face-to-face, heroic combat that sorely tested a warrior’s physique and endurance, tried his skill with weapons, and assessed his courage was the ultimate yardstick of manliness in Zulu society.39 Socwatsha kaPapu, whose father was an older contemporary of Shaka’s and who had himself fought spear-to-spear at close quarters in 1837, graphically described the experience when in his old age:


    “The men of both sides would charge forward … their shields would clash together and their heads would strike together. When battle started you became mixed up with the enemy; your eyes were fixed on the enemy in front darting glances at your comrades either side to make sure they were still full of fight and advancing. If you saw they were running away, you too would run. But if they prevailed they would take heart and become ‘harder’. They would pursue the flying enemy and ‘stab a melon’, that is, kill those in flight, stab them in the back, those who had already surrendered and were defenceless. Those who escaped from fighting would be caught up in an exhausted state and killed.”40


    If the amaZulu won the battle and remained in possession of the field, they ‘buried’ their slain comrades by covering each man with his own shield. Naturally, if they were defeated, they could not do so, and left their dead to be consumed by wild animals, by the vultures and hyenas.41 The veterans of the campaign of 1837 did not leave an oral record of the rites performed by their impi on its return home. However, we know from the testimony of those who took part in later wars that these would have been extensive, for the warriors were ritually polluted through the spilling of blood and could not present themselves before the king or resume normal life until they had been purified. For several days they washed ritually in a stream, and went on to ukuncinda in the direction of the enemy to obtain occult ascendancy over the spirits of their vengeful victims, and to ward off umnyama. Finally, an inyanga sprinkled them with intelezi.42 


    Because a man’s prowess in war was under the constant scrutiny of his comrades, nothing better consolidated a warrior’s reputation than to be in the very forefront of the battle.43 After the campaign, the king would discuss with his officers which ibutho had the distinction of being the first to engage the enemy at close quarters. Men who were members of that ibutho and who had killed in battle were designated heroes or warriors of distinction and the king ordered them to wear a distinctive necklace made from small blocks of ritually significant willow wood (known as an isiqu) which was looped around the neck or slung across the body bandolier-style.44 However, those who failed to live up to the required ideals of heroic masculinity, and whose courage deserted them in combat, were singled out by their comrades and publicly degraded by the king.45 By contrast, proven excellence as a warrior invariably opened the avenue to personal glory, wealth and political power in the Zulu state.


    As a means of maintaining the loyalty of his amabutho, the king assigned them a large portion of the cattle and other commodities they seized on their raiding forays and during full-blown military campaigns. It was thus in the interests of the king, as well as of the amabutho, to go to war regularly. Consequently, while amabutho were in practice part-time soldiers – members of a militia rather than a standing army – who spent the bulk of each year at home, their culture was a highly militarised one. This militaristic outlook was crucial for the creation of Zulu self-identification as a warrior nation that has persisted to this day. As Ngidi, who had lived through the reigns of all the Zulu kings from Shaka until the destruction of the kingdom in 1879, pithily put it in 1904 when he was close to 90 years of age, ‘We are always talking of war and battles, even at this day.’46 


    Zulu women, although never active combatants, had their own recognised sphere when it came to war.47 Besides giving birth to future warriors, they played an essential role while their men were in the field, performing the prescribed rituals at home to keep them safe in battle, such as turning the top rolls of their leather skirts inside out.48 And besides summoning supernatural protection, Zulu women contributed significantly to the war effort by supplying the amabutho with food while they were mobilising and assembling the supplies they carried with them on campaign. And while their men were away fighting, women kept the umuzi and its agriculture functioning with the help of their children and the superannuated. And, when the warriors returned home wounded or weakened by the privations of war, they tended them with their simple remedies, soothing and healing wounds with herbal poultices, tying up open gashes with grass and setting fractures with splints.49


    Despite the ingrained bellicosity of Zulu society, distance, logistical problems, and difficult terrain imposed a natural limit on the extent of territory Shaka or his successors could effectively conquer and control. By the later 1820s Shaka’s armies were generally confining their campaigns to the extraction of tribute from subordinate chiefdoms along the margins of the Zulu domain proper, as did Dingane’s in the 1830s. But, on occasion, they raided more distant, powerful neighbours, such as the kingdom of the amaSwazi (or abakwaDlamini) in their easily defensible mountainous country across the Phongolo River to the north of the Zulu kingdom, the less well-integrated Mpondo kingdom to the south beyond the Mzimkhulu River, and even the bellicose amaNdebele on the highveld to the west.50
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    Port Natal


    Shaka and his kingdom did not exist in an African void, untouched by the growing colonial presence. The king was familiar with the Portuguese at Delagoa Bay where in 1787 they had established a fort and trading post called Lourenço Marques. A lucrative trade was conducted through this port, and in return for their ivory and cattle the amaZulu received those seductive, exotic wares that so gladdened the hearts of the king and his izikhulu (or nobles): brass and copper beads, woollen and cotton blankets, calico, and cotton salempore cloth from India, usually coloured blue. Shaka took active steps to dominate this desirable commerce by compelling all the coastal chiefs between the Zulu kingdom and Delagoa Bay to pay him tribute. But Lourenço Marques was 350 miles away from the heart of his kingdom through challenging, malaria-infested terrain, and Shaka was eager to welcome a less remote supplier of foreign goods. Yet Cape Colony, of which Shaka was gradually becoming more aware, was twice as far away by land from the Zulu heartland as was Delagoa Bay. Besides, the way southwards along the coast was barred beyond the Mzimkhulu River by the Mpondo kingdom and by the Xhosa, Thembu, and other polities. The most viable trade route to the Cape, therefore, seemed to be by sea. And that is where the Port Natal settlers provided Shaka with the means.


    European sailors had long known from exploratory voyages up the east coast of southern Africa that the only good, natural harbour between Port Elizabeth and Lourenço Marques was situated about half-way between the Thukela and Mzimkhulu rivers. There, a massive, bush-covered bluff thrust out into the sea on the southern side of a great bay that enclosed several small wooded islands. Deep channels between the sandy flats allowed passage for vessels. In these pristine days the bay abounded with flamingoes, hippopotami, turtles, and fish. The one drawback for the purposes of a harbour was a sandbar that impeded entrance to the bay to all but vessels of shallow draft.


    On 10 May 1824 the 21-year-old Henry Francis Fynn (known to the Zulu as Mbuyazi),1 son of the owner of the British Hotel in Long Street, Cape Town, along with his five companions, landed in this bay from the tiny, single-masted sloop, Julia. They were the advance-party of a larger group of 26 prospective settlers under the command of Lieutenant Francis George Farewell, RN (whom the Zulu called Febana).2 Farewell had secured the support of JR Thompson & Co. of Cape Town for a permanent trading post at the bay. He and Fynn were to act as agents for these merchants in obtaining ivory, hides and maize from the amaZulu. They also planned to extend their operations north to capture some of the flourishing trade flowing through Lourenço Marques.


    It was Fynn’s and Farewell’s wish that the Cape annex their settlement, which they called Port Natal,3 and so bring them under the protection of the British flag. However, their petition to Governor Somerset was smartly rejected, and it was made clear to them that no attempt to claim Port Natal for the Crown would be sanctioned, and that the traders were on their own.4 With no other option open to them, in August 1824 Fynn and Farewell approached Shaka. He summoned them to visit him at kwaBulawayo, his chief ikhanda, and on their way there, Zulu children screamed with fright at the pale apparitions ‘who had come out of the water’ with blonde hair ‘like maize tassels’.5 Horrified mothers gathered their offspring up in their arms and fled into the bush.6 The amabutho at kwaBulawayo were equally dismayed. When Fynn arrived he was, in Zulu recollection, ‘mounted on a horse [itself a strange, unfamiliar beast in Zululand] with his hat on his head, gun in hand, hair like cattle tails … All present were moved with wonder and awe, so much so that the regiments shuffled back as far as the fence.’7 When the white men came before him, Shaka himself could not help but be ‘astonished at their colour.’8


    Yet, outlandish as they appeared, Shaka welcomed them because he immediately grasped that they could supply him with the same goods as those traded through Lourenço Marques. Moreover, the hunter-traders’ proximity at the bay meant that he could control them far more effectively than he could the distant Portuguese. Shaka also saw how they might act as the conduit through which he could foster friendly relations with the British authorities at the Cape. The desirability of doing so would have been brought home to him by news reaching him of the British military success in the recent Fifth Cape Frontier War of 1819–1820, and the defeat of Hintsa, the Xhosa paramount, whom he acknowledged as being a powerful African ruler in his own league.9 So Shaka welcomed the strangers at Port Natal – initially known among the Zulu as ‘makers of wonderful things’ with reference to their ships and firearms, or less approvingly as ‘the little red ones’ or ‘the little wild beasts’10 – and conferred on them the favoured status of ‘people of our house’, or kinsmen.


    On 8 August 1824 Shaka solemnly put his mark to a document that Farewell placed before him. It granted Farewell & Co. permission to occupy the land immediately surrounding Port Natal, along with a further stretch of territory extending 50 miles inland and 25 miles along the coast. Shaka also gave the hunter-traders the right to exercise authority over this territory, as well as permission to trade.11 Thus, with enormous implications for the future, the Zulu kingdom was brought within the Cape’s commercial and political orbit, even if it was still at an unofficial level.


    Most of the initially hopeful Port Natal settlers were rapidly daunted by the hardships they encountered and returned to the Cape. By December 1824 the settlement had been reduced to only six men: Farewell, Fynn, the clean-shaven John Cane (called Jana) – a London-born former labourer and carpenter who traded in buffalo hides was remembered as the ‘tallest of all the Englishmen, and … very strong and industrious’12 – Henry Ogle (known as Wohlo or Hohlo),13 and Joseph Powell (Farewell’s servant). They were reinforced by another small party whose two-masted brig, Mary, was driven by a gale onto the sandbar across the bay on 1 October 1825 and foundered on the beach. Their leader was James Saunders King who had been vainly trying to drum up support in England for the Port Natal project. He brought with him his 17-year-old assistant, Nathaniel Isaacs, who had spent two years in St Helena in the counting-house of his uncle, the 14-year-old Thomas Halstead and the nine-year-old Charles Maclean, known as ‘John Ross’.14


    Maclean recorded his first impressions of the rudimentary settlement at Port Natal. Farewell’s ‘fort’ on the north side of the bay was a ‘very primitive, rude looking structure’ consisting of a quadrangular palisaded enclosure protecting a cluster of several barn-like wattle-and-daub structures of typical Cape Khoikhoi design. Ten years later, only one dwelling at the Port had even the semblance of a European house. As for European furniture, that was almost entirely lacking. Numerous beehive Zulu izindlu surrounded the ‘fort’. Maclean found the white traders and their Khoisan servants to be in an indescribably tattered condition. Their attire was characteristically a picturesque combination of local Zulu costume and garments sewn from skins with European touches like Fynn’s famous crownless straw hat.15 Within a very few months of arrival the settlers had adopted local customs. They took wives and concubines (izixebe) from the local people, as well as from the Khoisan they had brought with them from the Cape as servants.16 As with any Zulu man, many traders legitimised their marriages through the payment of ilobolo, the goods or cattle handed over to the bride’s father to recompense him for the loss of her labour in the family unit. And like any Zulu notable with multiple wives, they positioned their wives’ beehive huts around their residences in conformity with the typical layout of an umuzi (the circle of huts around the cattle byre that constituted a Zulu family homestead). Fynn and Ogle were remembered to have possessed the ‘largest number of wives.’ 17


    Shaka, deeming the Africans in the vicinity of Port Natal ‘very scattered’, decided it would suit him if the settlers drew them in under their control and accepted their allegiance as if they were Zulu amakhosi. As amakhosi, the settlers were in turn responsible to their overlord, the Zulu king.18 As happened with people putting themselves under a chief’s protection, some acknowledged one settler as their inkosi, some another. Consequently, as was typical in Zulu political life, the power and fortunes of the various settler ‘chiefs’ waxed and waned with the number of adherents they could attract to their banner.


    The agricultural and domestic labour the settlers required from their African subjects allowed the settlers to give their full attention to trading and hunting for commercial gain. To their delight, the vicinity of Port Natal still teemed with game of every variety, although indiscriminate hunting would decimate it in remarkably short order. The settlers fanned out in hunting-parties under Fynn, Cane, and Ogle in search especially of elephant and hippopotamus ivory and of buffalo hides. Their Khoisan retainers and African adherents assisted them as hunters, carriers, and guides. The Khoisan were already familiar with muskets, and the settlers also trained some of their favoured African retainers in their use, so that they too soon became good marksmen.


    Shaka was very much taken up with the settlers’ firearms and their military potential.19 Invoking his authority as their overlord, in October 1826 he called them up to serve in his final campaign against the abakwaNdwandwe. Along with their armed retainers, the Port Natal traders played some part in Shaka’s decisive victory at the battle of the izinDolowane hills. This was the first occasion firearms were deployed in combat in that part of southern Africa. Appreciating the disproportionate effect a few muskets had on the battlefield, Shaka repeatedly thereafter summoned the Port Natal traders to take the field with him.20


    Besides valuing the Port Natal settlers as traders and musketeers, Shaka made good his intention to use them to make diplomatic contact with the British at the Cape. As we have seen, he turned to King, whose workmen were constructing the Elizabeth and Susan at the bay, because he appreciated that the vessel would be ideal for carrying his envoys to the Cape. In February 1828 Shaka made his ‘scrawling, fishbone’ mark through the last few lines of a document which King put before him. It superseded the original grant Shaka had made to Farewell in 1824 and granted King ‘free and full possession’ of Port Natal and surrounding territories along with ‘the free and exclusive trade’ of all of Shaka’s domains. It also placed him in charge of the embassy, led by Sothobe, which was soon to set off for the Cape, and commissioned him to ‘negotiate a treaty of friendly alliance’ between the Zulu kingdom and that of King George IV, known to the Zulu as ‘Mjojo’.21


    While the Cape authorities took Shaka’s unexpected embassy seriously, it is not surprising that they were at something of a loss as how best to handle it. There was Sothobe, Shaka’s ambassador, who, when meeting Cape officials, always insisted on donning his full ceremonial dress of skins, on wearing his headdress with its tall crane feather, and on carrying his spear and cow-hide shield.22 And there was the shady pseudo-lieutenant King, dubiously in charge of the embassy and determined on his own account to persuade the British to establish some sort of authority over Port Natal to safeguard the trading rights and territorial concessions Shaka had granted him in February 1828.


    The halting negotiations soon foundered. The Cape government refused to deal any further with the slippery ‘Lieutenant’ King, while the Zulu envoys became increasingly impatient and disillusioned by their lack of progress. Nevertheless, the main reason why the negotiations failed, and the British decided to send the Zulu delegation back home, was word that in May 1828 Shaka had launched a raid-in-force against the Mpondo kingdom to his south with an army of about 3 000 men accompanied by some musketeers from Port Natal. Why Shaka had chosen that inopportune moment to attack, just when his envoys were negotiating with the British can, for lack of evidence, only be conjectured. But the damage was done. For a tense moment it seemed as if Shaka’s army was approaching the eastern borders of the colony, and it was not until mid-July that the Cape authorities could be certain that Shaka’s army had turned back with some 10 000 cattle as booty. Although relieved, the Cape officials remained extremely nervous of a fresh Zulu incursion. They were determined to give Shaka practical warning to stay out of Mpondo territory by mounting a counter military demonstration of their own.


    On 26 July 1828, deep in Mpondo territory, a Cape force with African allies drawn from local chiefdoms that themselves felt threatened by the amaZulu, attacked a large group of warriors whom, from their dress and military style, they presumed were amaZulu. In a sense, they were, but they were not part of Shaka’s army. They were in fact amaNgwane under the leadership of Matiwane kaMasumpa, and he and his people had been dislodged during the wars of the Mfecane from their original home near the headwaters of the White Mfolozi in what was now the heart of the Zulu kingdom. The clash on 26 July was not decisive, however. The colonial forces and their allies attacked the amaNgwane again on 27 August in the battle of Mbholompo on the banks of the Mthatha River, close to the present-day town of that name. The amaNgwane were taken by surprise, cut down and decisively broken up as a political or military entity. The Cape military authorities remained convinced, however, that they had dealt Shaka a sharp warning to stay away from the eastern borders of the Cape.23


    Ten days before the battle of Mbholompo, the members of Shaka’s unsuccessful delegation were landed at Port Natal from the British sloop-of-war, HMS Helicon, which had brought them home from Port Elizabeth.24 Fynn recorded that at about this time Shaka dreamed that the vessel in which his ambassadors sailed had a broken mast. The amadlozi spoke through dreams, so the king deduced something had gone seriously amiss with the mission.25 Nor was he mistaken. Instead of a treaty of friendship, all his crestfallen and apprehensive envoys brought back with them was the ambivalent statement that, while the Cape government was anxious to be on good terms with Shaka, it would oppose by force any Zulu incursion south of the Mzimkhulu River that threatened the Cape Eastern Frontier.


    Shaka would not have been the ruler he was had he not acted to retrieve the situation by despatching a fresh embassy to the Cape, this time by land. It was to be led by John Cane (Jana).26 He set out on foot for the Cape in early September 1828 with a small party of amaZulu. After an arduous, 23-day journey he reached Cape territory. British officials interviewed Cane in Grahamstown on 7 October, and again in Cape Town on 10 November, and his embassy enjoying considerably more success than had King’s.27 Colonial policy had undergone a change in the previous few months following Shaka’s alarming Mpondo raid and the battle of Mbholompo. The new governor, Sir Lowry Cole, who had taken up office on 8 September 1828, was committed to a more active diplomatic engagement with the African polities bordering the Cape. On 26 November Cane was informed that he was to return to Shaka with an armed escort, and that he was to convey assurances of Cole’s ‘friendly disposition’ towards the Zulu monarch. However, like his predecessors as governor, Cole continued to abjure any British responsibility for the Port Natal traders, and reiterated the warning given to Shaka’s previous embassy not to disturb the border regions within the Cape’s sphere of interest.


    Cane and his party had only just reached the Cape eastern border on their return to Zululand when, on 26 December 1828, they were suddenly turned back, their promising diplomatic mission aborted.28 What had happened was that on 15 December Farewell had arrived in Port Elizabeth on board the Elizabeth and Susan along with all of the other residents of Port Natal with the exception of Fynn and Ogle. He brought the startling news that Shaka had been assassinated on 23 September 1828 nearly three months before, and that the Zulu kingdom was in turmoil. Although the Port Natal settlers had not been in immediate danger, they had considered it prudent to withdraw on 1 December until the disputed succession to the Zulu throne was decided.

  


  
    4


    Wizard whose liver is black 


    In many African kingdoms, regicide and bloody civil war long characterised the royal succession. It was no different in the Zulu kingdom where King Cetshwayo, the fourth in the line of monarchs, had a dream in which he was visited by the amadlozi of two of his royal predecessors. They said to him, ‘[W]e shall give you only one son, for you of the Zulu [royal house] are always killing one another in disputing the kingship if there are many of you.’1 That was almost inevitable in Zulu society where the king and all men of high status had a large number of wives and a great many children. In an attempt to secure a smooth succession, the amaZulu adopted the practice of recognising as heir the eldest son of a man’s designated inkosikazi, or great wife (who had not necessarily been his first-married wife, but was deemed of suitably distinguished lineage to carry on the line, or who was particularly favoured). However, in the royal house this procedure was not necessarily followed. It was considered too dangerous for an ageing king to have an official heir (inkosana) hovering impatiently in the wings, so naming him was delayed until the last moment to reduce the possibility of usurpation. An alternative was, like Shaka, to have no acknowledged children at all. But this was no solution either, because then any male of the Zulu royal lineage was technically qualified to mount the throne, and a succession dispute would be the consequence.


    Shaka himself was a usurper.2 The inkosana of his father Senzangakhona kaJama was Sigujana, the son of his eighth and favourite wife, Bhibhi kaNkobe. On Senzangakhona’s death in about 1816, Shaka turned to his half-brother, Ngwadi kaNgendeyana, to arrange to have Sigujana ambushed and stabbed to death when he went down to the river to bathe. In commemoration of his obliging treachery, Ngwadi would be come to be known as ‘the stick of one who cuts down trees’,3 and would remain high in Shaka’s favour.


    Even with Sigujana out of the way, Shaka might have struggled to be accepted as inkosi of the Zulu chiefdom, had it not been for the support of his aunt, Mnkabayi kaJama, Senzangakhona’s older, unmarried sister.4 Tall with very small breasts and described as sleek and softly fat,5 she was celebrated as a wise facilitator, ‘The opener of all the main gates so that people may enter.’6 Zulu society was certainly patriarchal, but a king’s or chief’s female relations, his wives and the widows of his predecessor, exercised subtle authority from behind the scenes. Royal women thus had it in their power to manipulate the outcome of the succession, and of Mnkabayi it was said that the Zulu kings were ‘placed’ by her.7


    Once firmly on the throne, Shaka ruthlessly executed all those whom he suspected of opposing his right to rule. Only then, did all of Shaka’s surviving half-brothers, thoroughly cowed, tender him their allegiance, or ukukhonza.8 But the more ambitious or disgruntled among these abantwana, or princes of the Zulu royal lineage, bided their time until the opportunity arose to strike back against the usurper. The evidence indicates that they made three attempts to assassinate Shaka, one in 1824, another in 1827 and a third in 1828 at the end of the Mpondo campaign. All three failed, but the plotters succeeded in hiding their tracks, even though Shaka’s suspicions were certainly aroused.9


    So, Shaka did what so many other rulers have done when confronted by treacherous, but highly-born conspirators. He sent them away on a dangerous military campaign to give himself a breathing space, and with the hope that they would perish.10 Even before John Cane set off on Shaka’s second embassy to the Cape, the king had despatched his fully mobilised army of some 15 000 men north on a risky and unnecessary campaign against Soshangane kaZikode of the migratory Gaza kingdom, one of the Ndwandwe fragments making their way north after Shaka’s victory over them in 1819. In 1828 the Gaza kingdom was situated over 400 miles away in the hill country to the north-west of Delagoa Bay, somewhat elevated above the humid and malaria-infested bushveld south of the Olifants, or Lepelle River – known to the Zulu as the Bhalule. Shaka made sure that all his senior brothers marched north with the Bhalule impi, and they in turn would have understood his motives and must have feared that he would execute them if they survived the campaign and returned home. Several of the abantwana therefore secretly agreed to kill Shaka, but were uncertain which of them should succeed him as king. The two leading contenders were Dingane whom Shaka seemingly favoured as his likely successor and who, like him, was a member of the amaWombe ibutho and wore an isicoco. The other was his half-brother, Mhlangana. Genealogically, Mhlangana was probably Shaka’s rightful inkosana because he was born of Mzondwase, Senzangakhona’s fifth wife, whereas Dingane was the son of Mphikase kaMyiyeya, Senzangakhona’s sixth wife.11 Dingane and Mhlangana were known to be fond of each other, and decided to put the matter of the succession aside until after they had dealt with Shaka.12


    Their plans made, the royal conspirators abandoned the army and made their way back towards kwaDukuza, Shaka’s main ikhanda south of the Thukela River.13 Once in the vicinity of the ikhanda, they made secret contact with Mbopha kaSitayi, Shaka’s principal but ambitious inceku who, in his position as the king’s confidential body servant, possessed the easy access to his royal master that was crucial for the planned assassination. Critically for the success of the plot, Mnkabayi, Shaka’s redoubtable aunt who had secured the throne for him, gave the conspirators her active blessing. Having once been Shaka’s most ardent supporter, she had come to believe – along with a great many of his subjects – that his incessant campaigns and repeated acts of violence were destroying the kingdom.


    Predictably, the circumstances surrounding Shaka’s assassination are difficult to reconstruct with any precision.14 Towards sundown on 23 September 1828 the assassins approached Shaka who was seated in the open space outside his hut in kwaNyakamubi, the small umuzi built outside kwaDukuza where he could relax in relative privacy. Wrapped snugly against the evening chill in one of his woven blankets obtained from the Port Natal traders, he was complacently watching his immense herds of cattle being driven homewards. It is uncertain which of the three assassins killed Shaka – perhaps all three stabbed him – but the accounts closest to the moment of his death are in agreement that Shaka only had time to gasp out incredulously, ‘What is the matter my father’s children?’15 Later, retrospectively prophetic last words were ascribed to him, all referring to the impending rule of the white men, frequently described as ‘swallows’ because they came ‘up from the sea’ like those migratory birds,16 and because they also build their houses of mud (that is, bricks).


    With Shaka dead, Dingane and Mhlangana agreed to wait until the Bhalule impi returned and made known which of the two abantwana it favoured as Shaka’s successor.17 Dingane, who was extremely anxious to placate the vengeful fury of his murdered brother’s idlozi (spirit), gave him an appropriately royal burial. Meanwhile, with the Bhalule impi still away on campaign and their available military resources very limited, Shaka’s assassins were anxious to avoid any external conflicts. Before most of the Port Natal traders – who feared being caught up in a Zulu civil war – sailed for Port Elizabeth on 1 December 1828, Dingane and Mhlangana entrusted Farewell with a verbal message for the Cape officials that assured them that ‘now Chaka was dead, they wished to live on friendly terms with every nation and by no means would do anything to displease them.’18


    Everything would depend on how the Bhalule impi would take the news of Shaka’s assassination. It had met with disaster on the campaign and had failed to take any of the Gaza strongholds. Mdlaka kaNcidi, its commander, was leading it home and deliberately taking his time for fear of reporting back to Shaka whom he had no reason to think was dead. Dingane was confident that the returning army would favour him, but Mhlangana insisted he had a better claim than Dingane because he had taken the most active part in killing Shaka and had jumped over his corpse, thus proclaiming that he was the murdered king’s conqueror and successor. Ironically, it was this very assertion that undid him when in late November the senior members of the royal house and the izikhulu gathered to discuss the succession.
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